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i, Connolly Gardens, JInchicore, Dublin.

I joinedi "AWM Company,-ird Battalion, Dublin Brigade,
Irish Republican Army, late 1918 or early 1919, The |
Compeny uéually met at No. 144 Pearse St. Seén Guilfoyle
was Captain at the time.

The. Company used to drill in the Brickworks in
Crumlin and also at 11, York St. and Ticknock in the
Dublin mountains. The Company had a miniature rifle
range on the premises of Carroll & Company, Trunk
Manufacturers, Cooke St. Mick Carroll, a son of the
proprietor, was a Section Commander in the Company.

We also had niniature rifle practice at Camden Row.
On a few occasions the Company Went out to the Dublin,i

mountains for revolver practice and grenade throwing.

H

We were very short of arms and, shortly after the
first World War ended, a job was secured for me by the |
battalion as a tallyman down at.the North Wall Extension
so that I would be in & position to make contact with .

foreign sailors from whom I might be able to get arms.

& boat came from Germany - the first German boak
that came after the first World War to thils country.
Ité cargo was timber. . . I got in contact with &
Germen seaman named Hendrick Kruse. His address was
Fitz's Street, 61, Keel, Germany. He was a young fellow
and said hg‘would bring in'arms on hils next trip to this
country. I brought him to my home and while he was hgre
T went &ight-séeiﬁg in the city with him. He did not}

return and after some time I wrote to his people. Th%y
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said he would be coming back to this country but, to m

o mma Cuh

knowledge, he never returned.

The Irish Republican Police force was: formed a |
short time afterwards, and I was one of the five members
of the Company selected-tb cérry out police duties.

Sefin Condron was in charge of fhe Ard Battalioh’police
force at that time.l ‘We_carried out normal ﬁnlice dut;es;
including the investigation of crime. Members of thé

public sent reports to headquarters about houses being

broken into, annoyances from corner-boys and sc¢ forth.

I remember, on one occasion, the whole B&ttglion police
' v

force was called out to raild & house in Gloucester St.

We went in a Ford eight horse-power van and pulled up
outside this house, which had already been surrounded.

We. went inside and arrested a man named Corbally and
another man who was'ﬁnglish. They were brought to a
house. in Irishtown and detained there for & while. Iater

they were charged with housebreaking and tried by a

[
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Republican Court held at L4l, York St. The Englishman

was sentenced to deportation. Corbally was detained

for some time and then released.

The. eriminal elements took advantage of the
situation that existed and a wave of lawlessness sprea?
over: the city. On pay nights,workers-when returning home
were attacked and knocked on the headland their wages |
taken from them. Robberies and housebreaking were
freguent occurrences. It was, in fact, this serious
increase in crime that led to the formation of the
Republican Police Force. However, the public: co-operated -

with us and we soon had the position back to normal.




R

3.

One of the places robbed was Hipps, men's ouitfitters,
George"s'st. They reported the matter to us.. I

interviewed the manager concerning it and he'gave me a,

pattern of the cloth which had been stolen. In this Fase

we did not succeed in tracing the culprits.

Another police duty was to get girls of loose
virtue off the street. We were sent down laneways
and other places which they usually frequented and made

them clear off.

I did not like the police force, and I reguested
a transfer back to "A"' Company. My request was granted
and I was transferred -.I cannot remember dates - but

it was after the first ambush in Camdenr 5t.

The man who was\in‘charge of that ambush was a
railway worker, named Lieut. Se&n Doyle. One of the .
Section Commanders on this attack got windy and he was
coprtmartialled and expelled. I do not wish to mentiﬁn

his name here. ;

Iitook part in what was the first raid, I think,
for Post Office equipment in the city - I suppose arou?d
1920.. It was on the Rathmines Post Office, which was
at that time situated in Wynnefield Road - a narrow side
road off the main Rathmines Road. Lieutenant -
Byrne was in charge. I remembér Byrne saying that we would
stay near the Post 0ffice and stop the Post'Office linesmen
and take the eqguipment from them.. Climbing gear and wire
cutters were required for our men in the country. I ?
remember being a2t the top of Wymnefield Road with tWo
others. I think Jiﬁ Harcourt was one and Pat Foster.

. Three men cape down with their equipment over their

shoulders. We held them up and took the equipment from



them. We just told theﬁ'who we were. We did not
present guns. Just as we were .going away, the stout

man of the three of them said to me, "Excuse me! We

are only working men and, do you know, we have to pay e s
these goods if we loée'them?“. "“What do you want us to
do?" we enquired. "Have you not the courage to come down

to the Post Office and take them off us there, and we

R

won't have to pay?" he said. "All right*, said We;
"put on your-stuff“. _We. walked down after them. Thgy
walked into the Post Office. We went in and toock the'
stuff Pfrom thém there, and walked away. We.brought the

equipment to Mr, Carroll's premises in Cook St. ’

T héd been on ambushes around Camden St. on a few
oceasions, and had thrown grenades . with sucecess. This
apparently hed been reported to the Battalion Council
and I was called to appear before a mgeting of the
BattalionICouncil held at Tumbleton"s - & small cake
shop in Francis 3t. At this meeting I was promoted to

be a Section Commander.
v

The Company Council met in Tumbleton®s in Francgs
St. very regularly, and I have photographs showing whefe
"Av Company used to meet at the Dog Pond in the Phoenix
Park and discuss company activities, Our usual activﬁty
about this time was ambushing in Camden S5t, area. The
area covered by 'A" Company, 3rd Battalion, extended
from Grattan Bridge, better known as Capel St. Bridge,
to Kelly"s Corner at the junction of Upper Camden St. énd
South Circular Rbadv and included Parliament St., Dame St.
to the junction of South Great George's St., South_Gregt
George"s St., Aungiér St., Redmond Hill, Wexford St., |

Lower and Upper Camden Streets. It also included



portion of all the side streets along the route. Mosit

of my activities were in Camden St., Wexford St.,

Redmond *s Hill and Aungier St. The Company at that time
consisted of from 85 to 90 members. Company meetingé
were held in the Phoenix Pérk. The Company Council
meetings in Tumbleton's caXe-shop in Francis St, were

‘held ét intervals of from two to four weeks and were
wually éttended by the Battaelion Commandant - Joe O%Connor.
The officers of the Company were -Se4n Guilfoyle, Captain;
Paddy Byrne and Sefn Doyle were Lieutenants. Later

Jimmie Keogh became a Lieutenant. Seén_Tumbleton‘waé
Company Adjutant and Peter Mchrmack_Quartermaster. !

The four Section Commenders were:

No. 1 Section - Jimmie Keogh (later Lieut.)

No. 2 " -~ Mick Carroll
No. E n - Stephen Keys (myself)
No. 5 M - Martin Hoare. ‘

Each Section Commander in the Company was giveﬂ a
special night in the week to be on duty in the Camden:St.
area to attack any enemy forces that might come along.
However, this did not work out in practice,_owing to

gsickness or other reasons.

As Section Comﬁander, I had two Sguad Leaders énd
from fifteen-to twenty men under my control. I would
send the two Squad LeédErs to mobilise the Section. The
mobilisation order would read something like this:
"*Parade at the back of Whitefriar St. Church at seven
o'clock on such a date. Without fail®, "ithout failt
always appeared at the bottom of the notiée. When I.
would parade the men, I might find three or four men.
I remember I had to go on dubty with only three men on gnany
occasions. = Our usual arrangement was to meet at the |back .

of Whitefriar St.'Church. We always had one fellow
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who might be a bit 0l1d, or not capable of taking & gun) -

apd I sent him out before us as a scoqt. His orders were

to walk up Camden St., take notice of any Individuals

whom he thought were Black and Tans or any susplcious-
looking strangers, and report back to me. It mignt seem

queer to sehd out a man for that purpose, bul we would

“nearly always recognise the Tans; there was something

about them that you would lkmow they were Tans.

Aé‘regards érms;for'the‘men, in the early stages
some of the men would have their own guns, but very few,
as they were very, very scarce, I arranged that the
Quartermaster should report at the place of mobilisation
and bring grenades and guns with him for issue to the men.
As Section Commander I was armed with both a gun and a
grenade.  The men were issued with either a gun or oée

grenade...

I would then give my usual instructions to the men,
that they were to follow me, ;top‘about five yards behind
me and wait until I would throw my grenade. The men
then would throw their grenades and fhe men with revolvers

cover off the retreat. It was a matter of "hit and ﬁun'.

When'I.got the "all clear' from the scout,
we proceeded via Whitefriar Place and turned right into
Aungier St., and if nothing came along continued on through
Redmond s Hill and Wexford St. to our favourite place of
attack in Camden St. If we met anything on the way i
from the place of mobilisation to Camden St., ﬁe always
attéckéd them no matter where we were. We: had. no definite
orders as to where we should attack the enemy; that vias
left to each Section Commander to decide for‘himéelf.

I always turned right and went up towards Camden St.




for the simple reason that we had better ways of

retreat in that area, From Camden St. there are &
few side streets and off these are numerous narrow
streets and alleyways, and as we knew the district

very well it was ideal for retreat. Lt

The attacks on the enemy forces were s0
numerous - almost & nightly affair - and. the casualties
inflicted on the enemy weré s0 heavy in the Redmond'’s
Hill - Camden St. area, that,the place became known
as (apd was commonly referred to as) "The Dardenelles",
It is also worth recording that not one of our men

was captured when on duty in that area.

As I said before, I'always turned right and
went up Redmond®s hill, That is why most of the
ambushes took place in the Redmond's Hill - Camden St.
area, As far as I know, the other Section Commanders
did the same. T don"t think it ever happened that
I had to walk down towards_the George®s St. end,
because 1 never had an ambush there. As I walked ﬁp
Camden St., the suspense.was-terrible. We had to
walk as we had. no car at our disposal for making & -
gquick getaway. I psually stood at the cqrner-of
Camden How,'facing Gorevan's drapery shop. Other
members of the section took up position at the coﬁnef
on the opposite side of the street.. It waé mostly
soldiers in lorries that came along in the early siages.
They came either: down or up the street in the ordinary
way, and we. never let them go without attacking them.
They neve& stopped. In my expgrience, they never
Jumped out of the cars nor did anything to try and
catch the throwers: of the grenades, with the result

that. they were an easy target going up and dowm




Camden St. I always had the feeling myself that I did not

" like hitting the soldiers. I always felt that I would !

rather see the Tans coming along.

After a short period, the British Army autborities
felt, I think, that the soldiers were not doing their stuff -
there was some report at the Council meetings ‘about it - and
the Tans started to come along. The soldiers usually'
travelled in big, heavy Army lorries and they were caged in,
but the Tans came in opeh Crossiey tenders. The Tans
varied -their tactics considerably. Sometimes when entering
the area their tenders travelled at a very fast rate, |
and at other times they just crawled along. When we
attacked them they stopped their cars suddenly, jumped
out and éhouted, "Halt, halt, halﬁ; halt™, with the
result that everybody in the locality would stand
because nobody knew whom they were calling on. They hagd
the idea that, if we were there, we would halt too, but”

9f course, that never happened.

The Tans tried another'plah. As they came into
the area, they switched off the engine and switched it on-
. again, causing an explosion in the silencer. Agein, I
think, their idea was to frighten tﬁe.people off the streets.
At any rate, I was very glad when they did that, because
we would know when to get ready. We "“hit them up®

just the same.

_The'Tans never seemed to know‘from.where.they were
being *hit up*. I often noticed them a&s they drove along
looking up at the roofs and upper Windowsv and that-is why,
I think, I was so lucky never to get a crack .from them.
They were always watching the buildingsL Théy‘rMWer:se%med

|

to realise that they were being attacked from the streets.



The Tans tried out yet another plan. _ Before the
ﬁenders left the barracks, & large number of Black and Tansg
in civilian éttire, would Be sent down to Camden St.

Then, wWhen the tenders would be coming down the street,
these;men would hold up all the people on the street.

That hépﬁengd to me on one occasion when I was with my girl
friend, who later became my wife.- I was not on duty that
night. However, the Tans were not successful in ecatching

anybedy that way.

The Tans tried another plan. They sent one tender
of Tans: down Camden St., another down ﬁeytesbury 5t.,
and a.ﬁhird down Harcourt St. Both Heytesbury St. and
: Harcourt St. run parallel to Camden St. The idEa
appafently was thai when the tender in Camden St. was
attacked the Tans: on the other tendérs—would close in on
Camden St. and cut off our retreat. Ifhﬁppened-to be |
on duty at my favourite position - the corner of Camden' Row *
and Camden St. - the first night they tried this plan, ;
but, of course, was not aware of it and, therefore, 1
was very nearly captured. We attacked the tender
‘when it came along and, having thrown my grenade, I drew
my gun and ran up: Camden Row. ~ When I reached Heytesbury
St. I saw the Tans a short distance uprthat street.
I dashed across Heytesbury St. and into Long Lane and goﬁ

home safely. But it was a narrow escapel ' 3

On nights when we Were not on ambush duty we
engaged in other forms of training. I occasionally took
members of my section on walks around the company area
to get to know it more thorouéhly and to familiarise.
ourselves with the numerous side streets and by-ways oéf

the main thoroughfare. One night .J. 1o Harcourt and

.
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" the entrance to Dublin Castle, some Tans came out and h?ld

were out walking. We were not armed. As we were passing

us up. Harcourt got.imperﬁinent, We were_arrested.and
broughﬁ into the Castle and interrogated. Of course, |
as was usual, we denied all affiliations. After-abou?
four or five hours we were released. | ' !

, }
fefer to. I was workinz in Garrett's of Thomas St. at)

There is another incident that I would like to

%he time and there was: & terrible loyalist also working
there naﬁed Bill McMahon. He 1is dead now. Bilil héd.an
idea that.I‘was in the Republican Army. He was an ex::
British soldier and his brother was an ex British soldier
too, and the firm was a real loyal one as well.

One day Bill did not turn ih for-work and: we heard that
his brother had died and that his remains:were to be
reﬁoved to the church that‘night. I was in Camden St{
on duty that night, and Iiéaw-an armoured car coming}ué.
from Redmond's Hill and a lorry of Tans coming up behi%d.it,
My system at that time was, when I‘saw'Or heard the cags
coming, I walked up Camden Row, away from Cemden St., '
took the grenade out of my pocket and pulled the‘pin'?ﬁom
it.. I would 5udge for myself as to what time the eneny
car would take to reach my position. I then walked o

. ) r
casually back to my position in Camden S%., wWith the

' grenade in my hand and the pin out of it, and throw it

at the enemy.vehicle whether it was an armoured car,

lorry or tender.: On this particular night, I threw it at
the second lorry. I saw another load of Tans behind ﬁhem
again, and I pulled_the-gun, which T usually carried ué my
left sleeve and ran up Camden Row. A,déy or IWo lateg

Eill came in after the funeral and he said to me, “Welﬂ,



o

11.

look, Steve, I know bloody well you are in the I1.R.A.
and thatlis-why I was a;ways hitting you up. But When:my
poor brotherts funeral was going up Camden St. the other
evening the Black and Tans started.firing, for no reason
whatsoever, There Was not a sinner on the street.

I don"t care what you are", said he, "but from this<onj I am
a hundred per cent. for the I.R.A.!* I believe it was

the fastest funeral that ever left the city of Dublin.

About ihis—time, my girl-friend announced to me

that her friend, Naney Addely, was getting engaged to &

Sergeant-ilajor in the British Army, 3nd asked me would I' 
éo to the engagement party with‘her; - She knew, of course, -
that I was in the Irish Republican Arwy. In fact, we |
were very well known in the'area; even the corner-boys
used always leave the:stfeets ¥hen we cauwe along, which
made it rather difficult for us. ~ The street dgalers

in the area would also move 6ff, Anyway, T agreed toigo
to the engagement party. I asked her did the—SergeanE'

Ma jor know who I was. She said, "No*. WAll right“,.ﬂ
said, "I ﬁill bring .F.im Harcourt with me%.. I went to the
party and met the Sergeent-Uajor, 2 very nice fellow.

He was an Englishman aﬁd he had turned Catholic to marry
this girl. He asked me did I drink and, when I said I
did not, he invited me to accompany him and a few others

to a pub at the corner. I‘agreed; I had a stone beer

‘and they had a good few drinks. A4t any rate, I went to

the pilctures again with this chap, through my girl-friend.
At this time I had ideas of using him to get guns for us,
but I did'not kﬁbw,him well enough and intended,waiting‘a

little longer before 1'd make the suggestion to him.

At one time the British army authorities though%
]
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they would try a dlfferent stunt in Camden St. . They sent

down a big lorry load of soldiers, with an officer in the
back along with the soldiers and an officer in the front
part.. I_might remark that our men were getting very

slack about turning out for duty in this ares when calje?

on. On thils occasion we had not enough men. The;e %ere
four of us where we should have had forty between us.

The four on duty this: night include& two Section Commanders -
Jimmie Keogh and myself. A lorry came down the street,
crawling at about four or five miles per houf, Ijsawtit

and Keogh saw 1t. I ran up Camden Row. As usual, T!
ﬁulled_the pin from the grenade and I walked down casuélly.
The lorry was just a few yards away'from me and. I lgt 2o at
the lorry. I saw my hand grenade going to the front |
aperture and expleding right in the lorry. Efputvup ﬁy

gun to fire a few shots, as they were not getting out.
Strange as it may seem, I had m& eye too near the gun énd‘

I got a flash in my eye. There was an elderly man

standing at the corner on my left - and he was shot. .I

saw him falling.

Keogh also threw a grenade from the far side, and
the two grenades must have‘landed directly ihto the car
because twentysone soldiers and an of ficer in the back were
wounded. The car stopped .suddenly and I saw practically
all the shots being fired up in the air, as if they pulled
the triggers indiscriminately., There was no trouble.

getting away.

The next thing I met my girl-friend and her friend,
Nancy Addély, and she told me that the Sergeant-Major, whom

she was going to marry, had been killed in the ambush in

)
[

|

Camden St. She said his head was actually blown off,
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It is an inc1dent that I feel very sorry for, even to this

day. , _ F

In the early stages in Camden St., there was a t}me
when the D.M.P. used to étand around on duty. -One 1
night Section Commander Carroll was on duty with me. ?
T threw a. grenade at a lorry load of Taﬁs. ~ The grena&e_
went over the car and actually burst &t Carroll's feet.
Carroll used to s:ay to me, "God, you nearly killed me éﬁe
other night"™y¥ One night, he said, "Stephen, there was a
policeman'on my .side of the street lasm_night and he ;
obstructed us. E saw him in.Camden St. befére, and w%'
will have to do something about it". “Whap do you
suggest we should do about it?" I asked.  "Well", said he,
wat least, we can go and see him, and if we find that he

is. there for the purpose of identifying or obstructing us,

I think the best thing we can do is knock him".

We went out two nights_afterwérds, looking for the
policeman. We picked him up. I might remark that this
was unofficial; we could not do those things without “
getting sanction from the Cquncil. . We brought him down a
back way and threatened him. We told him if he did not
keep off the Camden St. area and 1f we thought he was out
to obstruct us, we would shoot him. We never saw him:

again.

A Y 1

Section Commander Hoars, at a Council meeting 1n
TUmbletonﬂé-place in Francis St., complained that there was
a. erowd of ex British soldjers who used hang around
Redmond s Hill, and they were there, he-tﬁought, for the-
purpose of identifying and obstructing the I.R.A. men én
Camden St., and enqulred could anything be done about it.

I was coupled with him to go out on his next ambush nlght.



o

I3

iy,

-~

Again, we had only a few men with uvs. We stopped when

we got to junction of Redmond's Hill and Lower ngin 5t.
I had arranged with Martin Hoafe,‘the Section Commander,
that, when a car would come along, he would open fire on it
and, at the éame time, I Would fire directly inpo the crowd
of cornér-boys who were standing around the pilace.

lWartin threw the grenade and I fired directly\into tho%e

fellows. They never. turned up there after that.

No one else in Camden St., ever attempted tb obstruc£
us. In fact, they had great respect for us. Some of
the shopkeepers in that area, including an ltalian nam%&
Macetti who had an ice-cream shop, used to subscribe to

our arms" fund. ,

Another job on Wh{ch I took part was the attemp@ed
attack on Black and Tans at Dartmouth Road. The 3rd.
Battalion had information that Tans travelled ﬁhét.way;
from Beggars' Bush barrack at about the same time .on :
particular nights with mails for other barracks., Ourj
object was to attack the Tans and capture the mails. |
Dartmouth Road was outside our area.ﬁ‘ It waS'actuallyua
"C" Company Job, but some members of “A'.Goﬁpany weret*j
called out to assist.  Most of 'A' Company men on the
job were placed at strategic poiﬁts, including Portobello
and Charlemont Bridges. Their instructions were to aétaCk
any enemy forces that might come slong and also to help
£to cover the teet away" of our mein attacking party.

My position was.at the corner‘of'Dartmouth Sguare and
Dartmou?h Road. Other-men, mcstiy from '"C* Company, had
positions at various points along Dartmouth Road. Other

members of the: same company were on the overhead rallway

bridge spénning Dartmouth Road. Their job was to drop
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down grenades on the enemy lorries as they passed undernneath,

and this was to be the signal for opening the attack.
When the Tans came, one of the men on the bridge - MeDermott
was his name - threw a grenade, It hit the parapet and

came back and exploded among our men. MceDermott himsé;f

. was wounded by shrapnel in the leg andi so the job flopﬁed.

Some of 'A' Company men, Including Section Commander
]

Martin Hoare, were captured that night at Portobello Bridge.

- It was coming near the Truce when the next job
oceurred. I cannot-give in detail the actual dates of all
those operétions I was on, but I do know that at that time
things Wére getting on my nerves. It was no joke going
out two or three nights each week for months, and the gtrain
was beginning to tell on me. Still I coﬁtinue@ to go .out
and T would not bring a.grehade:back. It was not so bad
when our grenades exploded, but toofofteﬂ they were du&s.’
When this occurred we were left in a very'uﬁenviable é
position as: the grenade was our main weapon of attack. .

A special meeting of the Company Council was hegd
neér the Dog Pond in the Phoenix Park. In addition té
the company officers and sectlon commanders, it was
attended by the-Battalion Commandant - Joe O'Connor -
and the Battalion I.0. - Harry Ledwidge. The Battalion

I.0. produced a postecard-sized photograph of & man named

J. O'Neill. We were told to examine the photo carefully .

-850 that we would be able %o recognise‘the man if we saw

him again. It was then explained to us that O0*Neill. was
on the British Intelligence staff attached to Dublin Castle
and that he was responsible for the arrest of Simon Donnelly

: !
and some others, and that G.H.@. had sentenced him to be
{

executed, We were told that he freguented Kelly*Q hodse

|

|
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in Bagk Lane, off Nicholas St., and we were instructedlto
keep Kelly's house under observation aﬁd to shoot 0'"Neill,
We -were surprised to learn that he visited Kelly's

as two of the Kelly girls, Neilie and Nora, had served'with
the Fianna girls during the Rising in 1916. I have an
idea that it was' the Kellyd who passed on the information
to our intelligence officers thatAO“Neili Was & SDPY. |
Although we: kept the place'under observation until the Truce

O0fNeill never came there again, and so he was not executed.

Just prior fo the Truce things had: slackened off

somewhat, in Camden St. As far as f'remember, there was

"no direct order to cease or curtail our activities in that

area but we had less activity there.

I met Commandant Joe O'Connor one evening and he
told me that there Was a big number of jobs being arrenged
to take place all over the brigade area, He said tha%
on a particular night, which had not yet been decided on,
every company in the Dublin Brigade Would have a job to do.
He instructed me to attend a meetiné in\ﬁhe Queen's Theatre,
at which he said we would receive instructions of FA‘ u

Company s job. There was & large attendance of men

from the whole Dublin Brigede at the meeting.

The: job assignéd to 'A" Company was to attack
Auxiliaries and Black and Tans in Fuller's restaurant.
At that time Fuller's restaurant was in Grafton St.
It was on a corner and was a favourite rendezvous for
Auxiliaries and Tans, who were usually accompanied by
unfortunate street girls. The men for this job were
specially picked, and among those with me were Christyé
Murray, Willie Rowe and J i m Harcourt. The. first préer

we got was to throw the grenades into the restaurant

through the windows on the side-street. I recall this
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ﬁery well.. Then that was changed and it was decided that
it would be better if our'iﬁtelligence.officers:came into
the restaurant with us and pointed out the_Auxiliariesland
Tans to us for us to shoot. I remember very well putting
Willie Rowe at the corner of Johnson's Court and Grafton’ St.
to.covér>our retreat. 1 stood near the restaurant waiting
officers
for our intelligence/to come. After a while someone made
contact with me and told me that the job was called off.
We then dismissed. That was the last job I participated in
before the Truce, which came a.few‘days;afterwardsﬁ
As we were going aWay from Fuller's we: heard considerable
shooting in the direction of St; Stephen's Green. I
heard afterwards that Tans had been ambushed that night
at St. Stephen's Green. Apparently the order caelling off
all operations planned for that night had not reached our
lads in time.
?

During the early part of the Truce T assisted aﬁ‘the
training of the: company at 41, York St. T spent the N
week-ends at similar work at the training canp at
Loughlinstown Union. There was. a lafge influx of recruits

into the company. T intended to get married and I faded

away from the company for a while.

Sémetime after the D&il had voted for acceptance
of the Treaty a parade of the company was held at L1, York
St. It was an exceptionally bigrparade and included a
large number who had joined up during the Truce, Sefn
Goulding was Captain of the company at this time. He
ad&fessed the parade, saying we were all aware of the
position in the country. "Those: of you®, he said, "who
intend to remain loyal to the Bepublic.siand,fast, aﬁd%
those who accept the Treaty and wish to join the Free $tate

i
}

l
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Army move to the left®, Only about twenty meuwbers of

the original company remained, but a large number of those
who'fell out" went neutral and took ne part in the Civil
War. I was promoted lst Iieutenant and Fintan Lawlor

2nd Lieutenant. . ;

o ﬁ
I got & mobilisation order to attend 41, York St.

on the day previous to the outbreak of the Civil War, Q

It was a battalion parade With arms. At about 12 midnight

we wéere dismissed.

Next morning,&,V?lunteer=named Micky Mulhall ca@e‘
to my place of employment. He had a written order
from Cbmmandént O'Connor for me to pafade the left halﬁ-
_company in 41, York St. for the next morning - I think:

at nine o'clock. o {

After the parade on the first morning oﬁ the Ci?il
War, Sefn Goulding said to me,‘"Stephen,‘you ha& bettef
go and take over premises.for the company in York‘$t.
I think Bewerley Smith's would be suitable"*. I went over

with some men and took over Beverley Smith's.

Later I went out on street duty. I suppose I had
twenty or twenty-five men.J We: walked up and down Caméen
st. I divided the party into two groups and put a group
on each side of the streetx. A couple of lorries came 'up
Camden St. with single drivers in them. I am.not sur;,
but I thought there was an R;I.C; man sitting beside a
Free State soldier. I fired a few shots jﬁst to let them
Know we-were in the street and, if they came back, they
would get the works. I remember Jimmy Egah;.a.Voluntéer.

He threw a grenade: and theré were a lot of shots fired| toe.

This: fellow, Egan, said, "Listen, that grenade I am after
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throwing did not explode™. I said, “Where is it?".

"It is in & shop, in a bucket of water there™ he replied.
I went back with a few lads. There was a policeman ﬁ
standing near a fishmbnger's shop beside the Protestant
Church. T took the grenade out of the bucket of wate%.
I said to myself, "“Are we going to have the same troubie
as; we had with the Tans - dud grenades?®. ¥t was one .

of our own makes, a No. 9.

I went into No. L1, York St. and asked for the
Battalion Quartermaster - Peter McCormack. I asked, %“Is
this: what we: have got to depend on again, another dud

. grenade?",

We ambushed during the daytime and again we had

trouble with parabeillums. The ammunition was: sticking.

Captain Goulding said to me, "Stephen, you will
have to go on outpost duty to-night,-so pick your men",
We had not our own particular men: we picked anydne that
was there,. He said, "You will want to take over some
outpost around Camden St. in case the Free State come down

- to attack us during the night™.

It was very hard to get around at night during that
week of the Civil War, because the Free State had patrols
everywhere. Eventually I got into premises from a lane
at the rere of Camden St. I had about eight or ten men
with me and found myself in a big furnishing store,
which turned‘out to be the Star Furnishing Company, Camden
St. I put two fellows on guard but nothing hapbened that
night.

We went back next morning to Beveriey Smith's,

and we went out again that day, but I don't think I had any
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ambush that day, as far as I remember.

That night again, I took over the same premisesmé
When we went into the place first, I walked up through
thié long shop. There was a2 door on the left and,
at the door, I looked and saw.a light apparently
shihing. I opened the door and the-ﬁinute I 4did so
the light went out. T went very cautiously up the stairs
and went over the building. There was nobody in the
building. Some of the men got the idea that the place was
haunted. It turned out afterwards to be a very shiny
bit of brass underneath the door and, when the door would
be closed, you could §ee,the reflectioh. That second night
then, when I was upstairs, someone woke me up=apd said,
"There are some noises going on"“. I said "There is no
ﬁois&m, but they insisted that fhere-was; hI went arpund
the pfemisesu I missed the two North of Ireland fellows
who were in our party, and I could not find them at all.
I asked the guard did they go out. He said, "No®.
I then went down to the cellar and saw the two Nofth of
Ireland fellows breaking open the door of the safe. -
I put them under arrest and brought theﬁ back to 41, York
St. and handed them over to the Company Captain to be
dealt with..

Capta:in Goulding said, "There's trouble over these
parabellums.. You had better clean all the guans*', - My
gun was; & Smith & Wesson. I cleaned my own gun first,
loaded it and puﬁ it-on the table. After cleaning the guns
I lifted up my gun. I saw that it was cocked and I
automs.tically pulled the trigger. The bullet went right
through my hand and went between the legs of a fellow.-_'g

named Graham. Captain Goulding came along. I thought
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someone was after shooting me. I did not know what had
happened. I stood up. It was all right until they put
something on it and then the pain was bad. I said I would

walk down.

I was brought over to Stephen's Green to Madam Gonné
MacBride's house. This is something that was never put
on reéord.l There were twelve or fourteen wounded men
in this house at the time, and there were: some students.
There was a French girl. She was apparently Madam
MBecBride's niece. ¥adam Gonne Mchride'came in and
walked up and down, saying "Get those men out of herel
Who authorised you to take them over to my place? Get

them cutl™.

Apparently Headqugrters got to know of this, and
some ladies came. - They walked around the beds, OCne
lady came to me and she asked me what was wrong with ne.
I told her. She said, "What will I call you?".
"Stephen Keys" I said. "Have yéu any rank?" ;he asked.
I said, WLieutenantm; "Would you like to céme to my
place?™. I said I would not mind. SHe said, "This place
will be raided any minute™. And that lady was: the famous
Mrs. Dudley Edwards, a woman who spent thousands on the
J.R.A. She brought us: to her home in Dartmouth Square.

She engaged two nurses to look after us.

Mrs. Dudley Edwards paid all our expenses. There
were four of us there. One fellow was hurt in the stomach
wheﬁ he was:gettiﬁg acress a wall; one was wounded in the
thigh; and one wasswinging the lead. Surgeon Shaw_wgs
loeking after us, and his fee for each of us was- ten
shillings:a.visit. She put the Red Cross outside hen

door and would hot allow anyone inside her door - Free! State




or anyone else. The: Free State came to raid ip, and {she
went outside:and pointéd to the Red Cross and said she

was not going to allow anyone in. They respected thé
flag and did not raid.. Mrs. de Valera used to visit

there and she seemed greatly upset over the Civil War.

One of my men came to visit me at Mrs. Dudley

Edwards" place. He said to me, "T am after finding q’lot
of stuff out at the Canal, and I don't know: what to dJﬂWith
=R AL I said, ®Bring it here". I decided that,'wheﬂ my
wife would come, I would give her the guns. Mrs.
Dudley Edwards used to bring us to the pictures, usual@y
the Corinthian, and one day when returning from one of§
these visits I met Molly Hyland and her mother at Neléon
Pillar. Molly said she wanted the guns as she knew the

company they belonged to.

I was immobilised for six months. Before I was
fit again I reported back to'the.battalion and was !
appointed Assistant Battalion Tfansport Officer. Gus.

Carthy's brother was Battalion Transport Officer.

'We started ambushing here and there in Camden St.,
but, to tell you the truth, I did very little of it.
I think I was on one or two in Camden St. At this tiﬁe
Brendan Considine - a Clareman.- was 0/C of the Battalion.

Tomny O'Leary was: 0/C of the: lith-Battalion Column.

O'Leary had been instructed to derail a fiﬂty-wégon
goods train travelling from the Kingsbridge Station
and he asked me would I go and help him out wifh the job.
T was not working at this period and my hand was not 60
well, I said I would go out and hélp him, although 1:

!

knew nothing much about the work.
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We started off one night at about eleven o'clock.
Tommy O'Leary wass in charge. Peter White, Joe Page and
some others were in the party. We travelled along the
canal and proceeded'to an empty farmhouse, where it hﬁd
been arranged we would met two railwaymen who would %how
us how to remove- the rails and the best place fof doiﬂg
it. TWe went out in ordinary shoes and were not rightly
dressed for the: job. Eventually the railwaymen came |
along, and having shown us What:té do. they left. Thé
goods train was not due: to pasé until 5 a.m.  Some trgins
were due to pass before that time. ‘When the last tr&in had
passed, OIeary said: "(Coue slong now lads and get going".
Théy started knoéking out the chairs. The noise was
very loud and I am:sﬁre could be heard & good dist&ncei
away . O'Leary and I were on top of the bridge looking
down on then. OrLeary ﬁanted to remove the'track.
I said, "No, don"t do that. This job bas been tried
twice before and it was not carried out. Let's do it
right this time". The place selected for the dergiling
was at the bottom of an incline,. I suggested that the
rails be left in position and the train be allowed to
pass over and continue: to the top of the incline and stop
it there, then remove the tracks and uncouple the rerei
engine and let it run down and go off the: rails, then
ﬁncouple the goods wagons and let them crashldown, and,
finally, let the froﬁt engine down on top of the lot.

This was agreed to.

T had’ & lamp which one of the railwaymen had ‘
given to me. With Peter White and Joe Page, I prdceeéed
to the top of the hill. White and Page got up on the
embankment. I remained. on the tracks. Eventually
the train came climbing the hill. Tt would frighten you

-




to look at the big engine. I stood on the track in !
front of tne train and waved the lamp. I thought thé
engine was stopping. White shouted, "Jump, Steve".

I jumped and the train continued without stopping. d

White and Page, from their position on the >;
'embankment, had a-ciear=view of’the footplate and saw khe
driver and fireman sitting down drinking tea. Had wé
known in time:, we could have steppea-on to the train. :
We came back to town next morning very dejected .
bgcéuse the.job had not been carriled ou£. &

)

My next engagement was the blowing up of MeCullough's
in Dawson St. At that time McGullouéh was & Senator..
He had béen listed for execution but he could not be gpt
at, so the next best thing was to plow up_hisapmemises.
Surgeon Carty (now living in Lindsey Roed, Glasnevin)
was Brigade Munitions officer. Any time he would be
testing mines, he would ask me to go out with him. On
this occasion, he. thought of putting ten pounds of
cheddar' into petrol tins, and sulphur on top of the fuse.
Petrol tins were handy to carry through the: streets. I
was at & funeral one night wken he sent me to get. & car.
I brought two men slong with me and commandeered Kavanagh's

van - of the Coombe. We threatened thé driver not to

report the matter.

We drove up to a. place facing Griffith Barracks.
Gus Carty came out and said, *Hello, Stevel Do you
want petrol?" I said,“Yes“._ 1 didn't know what we:
would want. - “I’have:&jéouple:of gallons inside",

he said. He walked in and got the petrol. The next thing
J
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who was getting.into the car only Maud Phelan. I tried
to stob her, and I said, "FEs it necessary? Where are|we
going?%, He said, "Wé are going to do & job in Dawsoﬁ
St. on.McCullough”s“; Anyway, she pushed her way in on
‘top of us. We:drove‘away. I did not know what sort; of

a job he was doing. He forgot to tell me.

We drove down Dawson Street near MeCullough's shop.
f‘drove the van and stopped it on the right-hand side.
He said, “"Give me the petrol tin®. T thought he was
going to burn the place. T stopped the people from gging
down the street. I saw him putting his hand in his
pocket, taking out something and doing something to the
petrol tin. At that time the Free Statg:Army_were

guarding buildings around the vicinity of Government

puilding. Just as Gus and T got into the car and had
gone: about five yards, there waé a terrific explosion ?nd
I was nearly deafened.. T 4id not know what was happeﬁing.
"I got the impression that the Free State:werezattaéking

us from the top of the-buildings. T drove to the lefyg,
turned right into Anne St. and right into Chatham St. :
Gus: got & bit excited andi said, "We will never get through
here®, I said we would. I turned left into Sﬁephen 5t.
and George'"s St., and stopped right behind Whitefriar St.
Church. T said, "You get out, and I will put back the
van', I had utilised the van before.- I left the van

where I hadi arranged with the: driver to leave it.

I proceeded back to Dawson St. to see Wyat kind
of a job was carried out. There was a very big crowd
around.  The trams:wére.stopped. A1]1 the windows in the
vicinity were broken. After a few minutes, T got a t%p-on

the shoulder. T looked round and saw the Inépector qﬁ
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C.I.D. that time, Sef&n Tumelty. He said to me, "™Are you
coming back to look at the damage youlhave caused".

I said, "Me? * I don"t know anything &bout it. I am
not active at all™, He said, "Now, get out of here.
Get out of hereW,' S0, of course, 1 got away out of it.

and I was not arrested.

The next job was a raid on Held's, the tinsmithl
of" Francis St. for gas cylinders to make mines. This|was

all battalion work. We broke into this place and

secured the cylinders. Then I drove up to premises iﬁ
Marrowbone Lane, knocked at the door, but no one wouldF
open it. I tried to open the big gate: without success.
I s&id, "The best thing to do with this is to throw them
over the gate". We threw the cylinders over the gate,

but they were captured afterwards by the: Free State*Aréy.

There were various Compahies out on the next job,
the attempted burning of Oriel House. It was on a Sunday.
It ﬁas;a battalion job;‘ Ben Carty and another fellow -
he works in Dockrell's - were also on the job. We met .
at 41, York ét. and. commandeered a car. We brought sécks,
gun cotton, & tin of petrol and some other stuff for
burning the place. We.drove-to Westland Row where we
stopped. A whistle was to be sounded. We were to

drive up in our car with the stuff.

I was standing at the car, waiting to drive up,
when free State troops came down from Westland Row Station.
I remember- an officer - he had an impediment in his speech -
got out of the car and wanted to know what I was doing thére
I said I wés waiting for passengers coming from the tréin.
He fell for it. I had all the stuff in the car. I went

up into the railway station. This other boy that was |with



“us happened. to be in the lavatory in the railway too.

When I met him, I felt ammunition in my pocket and I put

the ammunition at the back of the cistern, to be collected
§

at a later - date. This fellow had his gun. I told h?m

to leave 1t in the lavatory and that we would come bac?

: f
later on and collect it, that. the place was surrocunded:

We walked out of the station. Wheh we got to the cgr?er
at the end, we: were stopped by the Free State. I was;
searched and he.was searched. After walking up-PearSf
St., about twenty yards, he said to me, "T got away with
my gun'. T said, "Where had you it?" .He-said, "1 héd
it here hanging under my coat®, "here do you liﬁe?m,
I asked. "North Circular Roédm, he said. "Get on a

tram", I said to hinm, "and get home'.

- -

Ll

At thé next attempt to blow up Oriel House, my
job was to take away the men and cover the retreat of the
men who were to occupy the publichouse: on the corner
oppos:ite Oriel House. Iiéommandeered.a car from Leeson
St. I was not able to crank the motor and I always had
to leave the engines running. The mine went off with.
such force that you would be blown off your feet. T
waited, The lads ran by. T still hung on. The:laét
to come was: Kruger Graham. The engine stopged. Kfuger
Greham jumped into the back of the car;'and said, "Drive
on, Steve. They are all out. I ab the lagth. I could

not re-start the engine so we had to walk.

The next engagement was sticking up an armed guard
at Hearcourt St. railway. This was a battalion job
and mostly VA'!' Company men were on it. I. had another’
car on. this occasion, an open Ccar. They were to bring
down the rifles from the railway and load them into thé

car., T said, "™ Make sure you don"t throw them with the
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muzzles facing me:?"™ Willie Rowe: was on this job

and he shot someone, Which disorganised the plan and

spoiled the job.. I drove around, thinking I would pick
up some men who might be straggling around the place. :
In the meantime! Kruger Graham, was:éaptured-by the Frge
State Army in Leeson St., and they shot him dead on_the

street. They got a gun on him.

There were two brothérs} Jack and Jim Harper,'

both officers in the Free State Army. We used meet in
Harper's house, down where I WSS;born, in John Dillon St.
Any time Tommy O'Leary, 0/C Lth Battalion Column, had &
‘job, he would ask me to give him & hand with 1it. We,i
went out to Thomas St. for an ambush. There: was a.Frée
State private car coming up at the Church, with two ori‘
three officers in it. T was with O'lLeary. The othe%s
fired at the car. I 4id not fire a shot. Jim Harpe%,
.whose house we had just left, was one of the officers‘én

the car.

A couple of days afterwards, 0O'Leary and myself!
were down in Harper's house. O!'Leary was after dyeing
his hair red. We left the house and Went over to the
'g&rdenér"Satool house in St. Patrick*s Park which was
used to store clothes before being sént down to the I.R.A,
in the country. The man in charge of the tocl house was
sympathetic to the cause. O'Leary went back to Harper's
that evening, and the Free State came: along to raid it.
They knocked at the door. One of the women was sick in
bed. One of the Harpéfé called O'leary an&.éaid, "Go and
set into the bed™. He got into the bed beside her. |

She was so stout, and he was so small and thin that he Wwas

covered up in the bed beside her. He got away that time.
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" He had been seen going into the house. The Free Staters
passed a remark before they left the house: that they Wpuldi
never see O'Leary alive again. The Free State trdoPﬂ
captured O'"Leary that night and his body was found nex%
morning outside Trahquilla.Convent, Upper Rathmines,

riddled with bullets.

During the Civil-war‘I was told to move off to ithe
country for a rest. I decided to go to my father's o?d
home, and where my aunt still lived, at Moate, Co.
Westmeath.. I was very lucky. At the Kingsbridge ‘
-station, I met Captain Fulham and he stopped me as I wgs
getting on the train. He asked me where I was going.
I said I was going to the country for a rest.. "Al1l r%ght,

go ahead™, he said, At Mullingar station, who did I nmeet

only Jack Harper. He used to search the trains at th?t

time. He called me out of the train. I got out. He

wanted to know where I was going. I said I was goingi
to the country for a rest - to Galway. He said, "Galway?
On this train?“ “Yes*, I said. That was a slip up.

T am gding toqmee£:the brother and going by car'®., "%o
}ou mind if I search you?*, he said. tDon't seérph me
here®, I said, “people.wiil think I am ; criminal®. We

went to the lavatory. I had nothing at all on me. I

was going to Moate, Co. Westmeath, where my aunt lived.

While I was in my aunt's place, a first cousin
of mine said to me one day, "We are going on &;big job
to-morrow, Would you like to take a hand in it? I'said,
"No™. *You might as well™, he sald. "No®, I said
"T am taking a rest. T am not going to be active at Lll
I know nothinghabout country fighting. What is the job?"

"We are going to get the pay going to Athlone Barracks



to-morrow, hold up the paymaster", he said. “That is| one

jobm, I said, "I won't go on. Had it been anything eise,
I might have gone along, but not on that®™. A crowd of
men went to do the job. They shot the driver and I think

they killed the paymaster, and they left the money behind

them. That was the way the job was carried out.
About midnight, wnen I was in bed, somebody came to.thé
door - it was a little farmhouse - and wanted to know was
there a siranger there. He waSrtoldlthere was not. |
He said, "There is. I am so-and-so. TYou had better

tell him to get out. They.are coming down for him",

I had to get out. I 4did not know where to go. I wa%ked
across the fields towards Dublin, and I got lifts. Wﬁat
happened was that Fulham and Harper reported they saw Ee
going down, They would have shot me dead, because they
were under thelimpression.that I went down to organise

that "job. I stopped in Mullinger where I knew some

people and got home as best I could after that.

T was arrested at the very end of the Civil War,
I was living in ﬁanover Street,,Wést, at the time. A!
strange thing about it, they were Belfast fellows Who -

came along to arrest me. They were looking for Peter§White.
I did not know they knew I was living therezﬁf all. \

I was arrested about two or three o'clock in the morning.
I remember it well, because arrangements had been mede

to get the Castle mails coming from the Post Office in
Dame St. on Friday morning. Captain Gorman was in chérge
of 'A' Company at the time and, as I said before, I wa;
qﬁ the Battalio@ Staff. Any of those jobs that Gorman
would get, he would request‘me to go out with him and éive

him a hand. We had arranged to capture the Castle mails

on Friday morning between six and seven o'eclock, and I



happened té be arrested that Friday morning at three
o'clock. Our system at that time was to get the postﬁan
as he was going through Dame St. We were to stop him

straightaway, hold him up, get the mails and bring theh

back to the shop in Francis St., Egan's, where we used}to
meet{ Apparently the job fell through when I Was‘arr%sted,
because I asked Gorman afterwards and he said the Wﬁolé
thing was disorganised as somebody else. was arrested t?o.
When 1 was arrested, I was brought to Portobellé’
Barracks. They kept me in the car. There were abouf
fwo or three cars, but I was the only prisonér they had.
When they brought me into Portobello, I wanted to get ?ut
of the car for a few minutes, but they would not let me
out. Thej turned the car around and drove oﬁt of the

barracks again., Driving away, I got a bit of a starth

I thought I was going to be shot.

Incidentally, I forgot to say that I had my gun!
in the house with me for the Friday morning's job. It
was not dapmured. I put it into the bed with my wife,

The kiddies were in the bed beside her, and they di&Ath
get 1it. They did not bother my wife who was in bed. E

I hadl also a .32 refolve; which I got during the Tan séxap.
I was after taking it from my owh dump that T had,-that
day to clean it. I took it asunder and I put it under a
butter cooler and forgot all about it. They were all
Free State officers who were raiding. One officer picked
up the 1id of the buttér cooler and lookedlunderneath.,

He looked over at me and then at the revolver, as if to
say, "Well, you are looking for trouble®. He walked |
~away, leaving the cooler uncovered; I put my hand out

|
and took some part of the gun and threw it under the bed.

|



Lo
™

He came back and asked me where did I get the gun. ?he B
Intelligence officer was in plain-c¢lothes. I said ié was
a souvenir I had during the Tan scrap. . "You are mak%ng a
mistake, asifar ag I am concerned. I am not active at all
now", 1 said. They told me that I was active, that they

" ¥new I was active. ' I said I was not. The Intelligence
officer happened to be‘a G-Company, pre-Truce, man and

I cannot think of his name. They péssed no more remarks

but they took the gun away. I was not questioned any:

further. Driving away from Portobello Barracks, I -
thought I was going to be shot. ;

They brought'me to Wellington Barracks, stoppedf
there for a few minutes, and turned the car again.
Needless to remark, I was not a terribly brave. man, but
I was not going to lie down under it. I felt very
jittery about it. I asked one of the seréeahts:in the
lopry what was goling to happen to ne. He was from thé
North of Ireland and he said, “You are all right. There
will be?ﬁnocking off, as=far~as‘wé are concerngdm.

That relieved me, of course, They brought me up: to

Keogh Barracks.
i

T was put into the- cell, that is, the guardroom
in Keogh Barracks. I thought I was there by myself.
I could hear a noise somewhere in the cell. It was a
big plaée. I could get a bad smell from the plaée.
The sergeant in charge opened the door. He asked me did
I know him. I said I didn™t. "“You are Stephen Keys?!,
he aékéd. I said, "“Yes™. He said, "It look§ bad. for
you ;o be put in here. I know you anﬁ I know your wiﬁem,
I askeé why. e have a compound here, and there areEfive
or six huts here. . A1l the p:isoners are usually put fn

there. They have a place here, a. coal yard. I am not

!
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trying to put the wind up you, but they often knock ofif a

few fellows here in the coal yard™, he said. He toldj me

he went to school with me. I askéd him what was:thelg
chance of getting away . "There is no possible chanceh, he
said; "put I would not let you out, in the first place;

I¥1]l see you have comfort and that". He threw me in t
blankets:. I said, ™There's an awful smell here", Hé

said, "There's. another fellow there®. "I can't see hém“,

I said. *"There are three or four cubicles™, he said,f

"k don't think he.is an I.R.A. man. He"s for the coai yard:
He was caught with 2 gun in a stick-up, and he lives iﬁ
Francis: St." . : ' l

When daylight came, this man came out; and he ééd
some terrible disease. He came over to me. We were:
talking for a few minutes but T could not stand near him
the smell was so bad. I requested to see the officer in
charge. This sane Sérgeant happenéd to be stil; on dgty.
About two hours afterwards I was brought up to an offi%e
inside the barracks, and the J.0. that I knew or who kﬂgw
mé well was there with some other officers. I asked why
I was not put into the huts. One of the officers said,
"We don't want you to disorg&nise'qr be corrupting the
people in the huts.™ 1 appealed to the man in civvies.

] asked him to put ﬁe anywhere else except where I was,
I said, "There's & man beside me. I.don"t know what is
wrong wifh him, But will you put me soméwhere else?!"
He said, *“Oh, yes. I forgot &ll about that fellow.

You shoula not be with that fellow". They took me out

and put me into a hut.
. .=‘
I met-a fellow in the hut, named Sefn Caffrey.

He was a Colonel in fhe Free State Army and he was a
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. prisoner. He was one of our Intelligence officers. |He

knew my name. I did not know him at all. He said,

“The best thing for us to do is to try and escape, because
. ]
I might get the works the same as yourself®., When you

would be going to the toilet, of course, there would be a
|

soldier sent. along with you, and there was barbed wire

keeping you in. I went twice or three times that day;
I kept 1lifting up this barbed wire. The soldier would
not come in with you. I had everything ready to get out.
There was: no trouble to get out. As a matter of facti
it_was quite simple. I told Caffrey I was going out Fhat
evening over- the lavatory walk., I said, "I don"t kno%

if there 1s a big drop down on the outside; but it lea@s
to the canal™. He: came with me to the tbiiet,'and I was
half-way across the wall when some other prisoners came in
and.ésked, “What are you doing?", or something like that.

‘The soldier came in and got me back again.

T was removed to Mountjoy prison then; I was
put into A. Wing; which was the capital charge wing that
time. We: were treated the same as the ordinary criminals.
There was,one man-in each cell, and ﬁe had to walk so many

paces behind each other.

One man started a hunger strike in A. Wing., He was

Dr. Con Murphy. He came froﬁ Keogh Barracks with me.

He had a son in the organisation'as well. When we: went
into A.Wing the first day, I was standing beside Dr. Con
Murphy, and Paudeen O'Keeffe came in and, with his usualt
shouting, told us what he would not do to us and whﬁt was
going to habpen to us. He walked down the line and said
to Dr. Con MHurphy, "I believé that you are on hunger

3

}

- - t

strike. Well, I'11 knock you off hunger strike '%, I
!

i
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He struck Dr. Murphy a blow in the face and knocked him
flat on the ground. The P.A's came along and Wezwere:
put into our cells, after getting a lecture from Paudeen

O'Keeffe, the: Commanding Officer of the Prison.

P o

The suspense in A. Wing was, needless to remark]
as far as 1 was concerned, very great. If you happenéd
to use your chamber in the_night and were not at the cell
door in the morning holding it in your hand when the |
P.A. came along, he would bolt the door again and lock;'
you in, and you were locked in all day; If you got oét
you would have to stay in the compound until dinner tide
no matter how heavily it rained, We got the same food
as the criminels. | "

I might remark that all‘the men in the other wings‘
were singing and having dances; and saying the Rosary %t
night; and they were getting parcels and all that. i
Sometimes one of the criminals, if you happened to~b§ in
the hall at all in A.Wing, would get cigarettes from the
far side and pitch them in for anybody at all to get them.
I must say some of the P.A.s never bothered about them,
but some would pick them up and takKe: them ﬁway. ;

i
£

Some time afterwards, there was a big move oﬁt,j
and I moved over to D. Wing. After Eéing transferredito
D. Wing, the prisoners made me Q.M.;, D.3. Pr. Jim Ry;n,
Professor Joe HMcDevitt and General Michael Kilroy were,
on the: same landing in D.3, and afterwards Mr. Sefn Le@ass

was put. into the same cell as myself when he was:arreséed.

-

We had our own organlsation in the prison. Th%re

were threé or four men in each cell usually."-Wé had 4n

P

intelligence staff there and I was on it. How that



happened was, I was:walking around the compound one day

and I saw a Sergeant who was a first cousin of mine.

He. was in charge of the guard.. I had not spoken to him for
years., . He called me over and said, "Is your nanme Key%?"u

I said, "Yes". "TF thought", said he, "that you were
knocked off 1ong égo*. I éaid, aNot. “Well“,,he-sa%d,
Yanything I can do fér you, I wili dé.it“; *ﬁellm, I
éaid, 4Give me in some tea and sugar and“a fe% cigéretées,
if you can get them". *T- will get anything you wantm;

he said. | | :

i

In the: meantime: the Four Courts fellows in C. W?ng
were planning to escape and I knew about this. We us%d
have little Council meétings. Dr. Jim Ryan was on them.
He was in the same wing. Professor Joe licDevitt said;
"Well, Q.M., seeing that you know this man, we will be!
éble to use him™. I s&id Wyast, “Well®, he said,
“get him to bring me in a bottle of whiskey“. I asked
my cousin and he dbrought in a half bottle of whiskey.

I don*t know who told me to approach my cousin

possibly

about getting out letters,/Dr. Jim Ryan or some of the big
shots, I" asked hiﬁ about taking out-a few letters..
%*Yes', he: said, "I will take them home to youf wifem,
I said, "I want you to take some others. You will be
paid for this. Don*t forget, it is. a dangerous thing",
He said, "I understand. Don'f forget, I was in the :
British Army"™. T got a letter - I think Professor Joe
McDevitt gawve. it to me to send out. My-cousin had taken
out ordinary katterslin the meantime and he had taken out
some blank letters from our own people, as é test, and%
he delivered them apparently 2ll right and he got paidé

I got this particular letter. I don"t know what was in it,



but I know it was appertaining to the escape, and it was
addressed to somebody at Morehampton Road, or Ballsbrﬁdge
district. I gave him the letter and ; said, "Don't open.
the letter. I have: it hére and I want you to deliver it
to the address. If you carry out your instructiénsn.

you will be paid £40 or £50*. He said, "That will bejall
right. I will deiiver:itm. He brought out the lett;r.

I d1d not see: my cousin for three months !
afterwards. He had been transferred to Howth, in cha?ge
of the guard in Howth. | He . came back as a prisoner to%the
guard room where he had been in chgrge. I’trie& to gét
him over, and he shouted he was a prisoner. I thought he

had been caught with the letter.

- . i
I met my cousin years afterwards and asked him what

happened about the letter. "Wellt, he said, “I‘delivéred
the letter all right. I went in civilian clothes. g
woman took it from me at the door and asked me to go iﬁ.
When I went in, I saw a crowd of men at a meeting, and

who did I see only de Valera, When I saw de Valera, I

got the wind up and said I would come back for the answer™,
He did not realise what he was: doing untll he saw de ‘
Valera. He: was: nearly ailways drunk. *I was in éharée

}
of the Howth section™, he said, "and I pinched a few rifles

and was arrested, : ' ' | i
. y :'
I was transferred from Mountjoy prison to the Curragh

and I was Q.M. of Hut 12 or 13.

]

Thére was: & P.A. in the Curragh by the name of
Bergin. He was: shot afterwards. I knew he was one that
could be approached on matters of escape, if" you could

possibly approach him through the big shots. I heard lof”
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fhat. One evening I was told tb be up at the cook hopse
early in the morning "and don't bring any orderlies-wi%h
you', | I was told that by our Camp Adjutant, Malone, T
think, was his name. I went up next morning to the cook
house or dining room, early. As I went up, the Camp

Ad jutant came up.and said, "Come on gquick". I went té

the side. of the cook house. There was. a“horse-drawn U
vehicle standing there, with rubbish. Commandant Malone,
the. Camp Ad.jutant, and our Camp Commandant got into the

car and they lay down on the bottom of it. The P.A.,
Bergin, was standing beside it. Myself, Befgin, the P.A.,,
and two other peopleAcovered up the Camp Commandant and

the Adjutant with cabbage leaves and all the refuse from
‘the cook house. When they were covered up, they were

driven right out and escaped.

The next escape from the: Curragh was made’by Joe
Wilson, a former Cémmandant of the Free State Army.
I used knock around with him a lot because he was able to
get a great lot of cigarettes from the scldiers. Hé
said to me one day, "I am going to escape", Wezwere‘
sitting on the grass; He mapped out the‘whole Curragh
on the.grass. I saild, "Let me have your clgarettes j
before you go'. One evéning while I was talking to him,
he said he‘waé going to escape the next-morning. He
told me how he was going. There wés a very, very big %
hut which held about five or six hundred men.. It was‘
a riding-sch&oi one time,. The morning paper was
secured in some way, and the O/C of the hut called all 5
the men thai were there down to one end of the hut, |
telling them he had the paper. Of course, everybody
was anxious to hear the news, I wasi at the top part

of the hut. I saw Joe Wilson walking in and he waved




his hand to me. He climbed up on top of a platform

where the guard was placed to keep an eye on the men. ;
It was raised above the hut. . The same man again, Bergin,
was there waiting for him and gave him a uniform, into

which Wilson changed. He walked on out and got away.

After an escape like that, in order to give the
escapees time to get away, we did our best that they woul@
not be missed for a few days. We were counted every night
by officers. When they would have gone up one side of the
hut, it was arranged that one or two fellows, afﬁer being

counted, would get as gquickly as possible 'over to the two

" empty beds on the other side. It was possible to keep

the authorities in ignorance of the escape for a few days,

and that gave the boys a chance of getting away.

While I was in the Curragh, a hunger strikg was
called, and I thought to myself that I would not go on
hunger strike.. T was married at the time and I said,’
*"T am not going on hunger strike and have fo go out of
this p;acelas.a cripplel. Dr. Jim Ryan was Medical
Officer‘of the Camp, and any men with any repute that did
not want to go on hunger strike would have to go before

him., There was a lot of people there who were not in the

I.R.A., at all, mixed amongst US. There was guite a g%ai

gqueue of us outside, awaiting medical examination.

I went into him. *fell, Keys, what is wrong with you?",

‘he asked. I said, "Doctor, I have an awful bad stomach,

and T had an operation" - which I had not at all - "and

I would not be able to go on this hunger strike'. *You
are Q.M.", he said. I said, %"Yes®, "Strip off*, he
said. I stripped off. He did examine me. He éaid,] '

"Go back. Give a good example to the men'. I had td

¥
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go on hunger strike. I had the experience of four daﬁsi

hunger strike in Mount joy.
!
We: went on hunger strike, and I said I would not

stop: on it any longer than fifteen'days, because there was
a rumour around the Camp that, after fifteen days on
hunger strike, you lived 6n the marrow of your bones and
that you were likely to be a cripple for the -rest. of your
life. On the fifteenth day, 1 was ready to break it the
next morning. The way you broke the strike: was: you
went up to the cook house; You told them you were of f
the strike; That morning when I went up, there were five .
or six hundred of us bregking it because of the rumour.
You got a-1little drop of Bovril for a start. Some of

the men from the country 4id not understand this. 1 saw
one man in partibulaf going over to the swill bucket,
taking food from it and eating it, and, within a short
period, he was lying on the ground and the orderl;es were
taking him away on a stretcher. The rumour came that he
was dead. Two or ﬁhree men happened to die from the- same
thing, eéting too much and not being able to get to hospital

guick enough.

T was released at the end of spring 192/.
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